
 
 

 
 

   Executive Committee Agenda 
November 12, 2015, 4:00 p.m. Eastern 

Florida Association of Counties 
100 South Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
Dial-in Number: 1-888-670-3525 

Participant Passcode: 998 449 5298# 
 

 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Public Comment 
 
3. Approval of October 15, 2015 Minutes 
  
4. Update on Planning Grant Application  
 Mike Langton  
 Lisa King 
 Langton Associates  
  
5. Consortium 2016 Meeting Calendar Update 
 
6. Briefing on 2016 Officer Elections in February 
 
7. Recommend Approval of Comments on the Proposed BP Consent Decree  
 
8. Approval of Independent Auditor Contract with Warren Averett for FY 2014/2015 
 
9. Discussion on Options for Recording November 18, 2015 Board Meeting  
 
10. Recommend Direction on Board Meeting Presentations: Scientists & Economists 
 
11. Report of the Committee of 15 Counties 
  Susan Latvala (Pinellas), Chair, Committee of 15 
 
12. Recommend Approval of Action on Items from August 26 Goal Setting Workshop 
  Doug Robison 
  Environmental Science Associates 
 
13. New Business 
 
14. Public Comment 



 
 

 
 

 
15. Upcoming 2016 Meetings 
 Full Board of Directors  
 Wednesday, November 18, 2015, 9:00 am, ET  
 Omni Amelia Island Plantation 
 Nassau County 
 
 Thursday, February 4, 2016, 8:30 am, ET 
  Florida Department of Environmental Protection 
  Carr Building, Room 170 
  Leon County 
 
16. Adjourn 



Notice of Meeting/Workshop Hearing 
 

OTHER AGENCIES AND ORGANIZATIONS 
Gulf Consortium 
The Gulf Consortium Executive Committee announces a telephone conference call to which all 
persons are invited. 
DATE AND TIME: November 12, 2015 at 4:00 pm (ET) 
PLACE: Dial in Number: 888-670-3525 
Participant Passcode: 998 449 5298#  
GENERAL SUBJECT MATTER TO BE CONSIDERED: The Executive Committee of the Gulf 
Consortium will conduct a Board of Directors preview meeting, consisting of recommending 
action on the items from Goal Setting Workshop, recommend direction on Board meeting 
presentations; a briefing on the Consortium’s 2016 meeting calendar; discussion on options for 
recording the November 18 Board meeting; approval of the independent auditor contract for 
FY2014/2015; and, conduct other business. In accordance with section 163.01, the location of 
the conference call is the Florida Association of Counties, 100 S. Monroe Street, Tallahassee, FL 
32301. 
A copy of the agenda may be obtained by contacting: Ginger Delegal at 850-922-4300 or 
gdelegal@fl-counties.com; or, see www.FACRestore.com. 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 
accommodations to participate in this workshop/meeting is asked to advise the agency at least 3 
days before the workshop/meeting by contacting: Ginger Delegal at 850-922-4300 or 
gdelegal@fl-counties.com.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the agency 
using the Florida Relay Service, 1-800-955-8771 (TDD) or 1-800-955-8770 (Voice). 
If any person decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter 
considered at this meeting or hearing, he/she will need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceeding is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence from which the appeal is 
to be issued. 
For more information, you may contact Ginger Delegal at 850-922-4300 or gdelegal@fl-
counties.com; or, see www.FACRestore.com. 
 
 

https://www.flrules.org/gateway/department.asp?id=1000
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/organization.asp?id=1089
mailto:gdelegal@fl-counties.com
http://www.facrestore.com/
mailto:gdelegal@fl-counties.com
mailto:gdelegal@fl-counties.com
mailto:gdelegal@fl-counties.com
http://www.facrestore.com/


Gulf ConsortiumExecutive Committee Meeting 
November 12, 2015, 4:00 p.m., Eastern

 FAC Office - Conference Call

County Executive Committee Member Present
Escambia Commissioner Grover Robinson
Gulf Warren Yeager
Monroe Commissioner George Neugent
Pinellas Susan Latvala
Walton Commissioner Sara Comander



 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 3 

Approval of October 15, 2015 Executive Committee Minutes  
 
 
 

Statement of Issue:  
This agenda item proposes approval of the October 15, 2015 Executive 
Committee meeting minutes.   
 
Options: 
(1) Approve the October 15, 2015 Executive Committee minutes, as presented; 

or 
(2) Amend and then approve the October 15, 2015 Executive Committee 

minutes. 
 
Recommendation:   
Motion to approve the October 15, 2015 Executive Committee meeting minutes, 
as presented. 
 
Prepared by:  
Ginger Delegal 
Florida Association of Counties 
Interim Manager 
On:  November 5, 2015 
 
Attachment:  
Draft 10/15/15 Minutes 
 
Action Taken: 
 
Motion to: ____________________, Made by: ________________________; 
 
Seconded by:  _____________________. 
 
Approved____; Approved as amended_______; Defeated_________. 
 
 
 



1 

 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee Meeting 
October 15, 2015, 4:00 p.m. (Eastern) 

Florida Association of Counties 
Leon County, Tallahassee, Florida  

 
 
Officers in Attendance Telephonically: Commissioner Grover Robinson (Escambia), Commissioner Sara 
Comander (Walton), Susan Latvala (Pinellas), Commissioner George Neugent (Monroe) and Warren 
Yeager (Gulf). 
 
Agenda Item #1 – Call to Order 
Commissioner Grover Robinson (Escambia) called the meeting to order at 4:04 pm (ET).  
 
 
Agenda Item #2 – Public Comment 
Roman Gastesi, Monroe County Administrator 
Commissioner Chris Constance, Charlotte County 
  
 
Agenda Item #3 – Approval of Minutes from September 23, 2015 Executive Committee Meeting  
Commissioner Grover Robinson (Escambia), Chairman, presented the minutes from the September 23, 
2015 Executive Committee meeting.  A motion to approve the September 23, 2015 Executive Committee 
minutes was presented by Susan Latvala (Pinellas) and seconded by Commissioner George Neugent 
(Monroe).  

ACTION: APPROVED 
 
 
Agenda Item #4 – Discussion of Report on August 26, 2015 Goal Setting Workshop  
Ms. Ginger Delegal, Interim Manager, presented this item to the Board and asked the Chairman to 
recognize Doug Robison with Environmental Science Associates who, after recognition by the Chairman, 
gave a detailed overview of the draft report and opened the floor for questions by the Executive 
Committee.  A lengthy discussion ensued among the Executive Committee regarding the straw vote taken 
at the workshop on the geographic distribution of SEP projects.  Ms. Delegal informed the Executive 
Committee of staff’s intent to bring three motions back before the Board at its November meeting.  The 
motions would be based on the three issues discussed at the goal setting workshop – adopting Florida’s 
SEP’s goals and objectives, economic and environmental SEP project considerations and the geographic 
distributions of the SEP projects.  Further Executive Committee discussion ensued with regard to the 
proposed motions and, after a lengthy debate among the Committee, a motion was made by 
Commissioner George Neugent (Monroe) that all recommendations from the ESA draft report on the 
three issues be approved for Board consideration in the form of motions, with the exception of the 
geographic distribution issue.  Said motion was seconded by Susan Latvala (Pinellas) and passed 
unanimously.        

ACTION:  APPROVED 
 



2 

 

 
 
Agenda Item # 5 – New Business 
Ms. Ginger Delegal, Interim Manager, suggested that an Executive Committee meeting be scheduled in 
early November in order to conduct a preview of the Board agenda for the November 18, 2015 meeting. 
 
 
Agenda Item # 6 – Public Comment 
Jessica Koelsch, National Wildlife Federation 
Commissioner Chris Constance, Charlotte County  
Roman Gastesi, Monroe County Administrator 
 
 
Agenda Item #7 – Upcoming Board Meetings 
The next meeting of the Consortium Board of Directors will be held on November 18, 2015 at Omni 
Amelia Island Plantation in Nassau County.  
 
 
Agenda Item #8 – Adjournment 
There being no further business, the Committee adjourned at 5:12 pm (ET). 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Grover Robinson 
Chairman 



 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 4 

Planning Grant Application Update   
 

Executive Summary: 
Update on the status of the Planning Grant Application submitted to the Restoration 
Council on September 24, 2015.    
 
Background: 
Langton Associates, a part of the ESA Consultant Team, has prepared the planning 
grant application for the Consortium’s review and approval. The total request for the 
grant is $4,851,525.00, over a planning horizon that extends back from August 22, 
2014 (period for pre-award costs), forward two (2) years, to September 30, 2017.  
 
Additional work and telephone conference calls occurred between Consortium staff, 
Langton Associates, Leon County Clerk of Court staff, and the Restoration Council 
as to the grant funded eligibility of certain tasks performed by the Gulf Consortium 
to develop the State Expenditure Plan. After exercising its delegated authority, on 
September 23, the Executive Committee approved the final grant applicability and it 
was submitted on September 24, 2015, to the Restoration Council.  
 
Langton Associates contacted Council staff for comments on the Planning Grant 
application and on November 6, 2015, Council staff responded with five additional 
questions.  Consortium staff and the Consultant team are replying to the questions 
posed.   
 
Fiscal Impact: 
Under Task Order 1, ESA agreed to develop the PSEP and the preparation of a 
grant application for planning funds.  Task Order 1 provides that payment to ESA is 
contingent upon the receipt of federal planning grant monies.  Upon receipt of those 
funds, ESA will be paid $15,000 for its services for the planning grant application 
preparation, and $35,980 when the Council approves the grant, for a total of 
$50,980.   
 
Attachments: 
Final and submitted Planning Grant Application. 
 
Recommendation:   
Information only. 
 
Prepared by:  
Lisa King 
Langton Associates 
On:  November 6, 2015 







































































































































































































































































































































































1 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 5  

2016 Meeting Calendar Update  
 
 
 

Statement of Issue:  
This agenda item provides the Gulf Consortium with the dates for the regularly-
scheduled Board meetings in 2016.   
 
Background:   
The Executive Committee voted, at its meeting of August 20, 2015, to approve 
the direction of the 2016 meeting calendar and, dates are now certain for FAC 
Annual Conference, Policy Conference and Legislative Conference.   
 
JANUARY 
Open 
 
FEBRUARY 
Thursday, February 4, 2016, 8:30 am, ET 
Tallahassee, Leon County  
Florida Department of Environmental Protection 
In conjunction with FAC Legislative Day    
 
MARCH 
Open  
 
APRIL 
Thursday, April 21, 2016, 2:00 pm, ET 
Tentative Location:  Hillsborough County BoCC Chambers 
 
JUNE 
Tuesday, June 28, 2016, 1:00 pm, ET 
Hyatt Regency Orlando, Orange County 
In conjunction with FAC Annual Conference  
 
AUGUST  
Open 
 
SEPTEMBER 
Tuesday, September 13, 2016, 3:00 pm ET 
Hutchinson Island Marriott, Martin County 
In conjunction with FAC Policy Conference  
 



2 
 

 
OCTOBER    
Open 
 
NOVEMBER/DECEMBER 
Friday, December 2, 2016, 10:00 am – 12:00 pm, ET 
Buena Vista Palace, Orange County  
In conjunction with FAC Legislative Conference.   
 
Analysis:   
These proposed dates for regularly-scheduled Board meetings are provided 
based on the direction the Consortium desires to keep travel expenses and 
impacts to a minimum by being able to attend multiple meetings at the same 
location and time period.  In addition, during 2016, more meetings will likely be 
required as the Consortium begins to engage in the active development of 
Florida’s State Expenditure Plan.  Those dates are not yet known. 
 
Options: 
This agenda item is informational only.  No action required. 
 
Recommendation:   
No action is required at this time. 
 
Attachments: 
None. 
 
Prepared by:  
Ginger Delegal 
Florida Association of Counties 
Interim General Manager 
On:  November 5, 2015 
 



1 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 6 

Officer Elections in February 2016 
 
 

Executive Summary:  
 
This agenda item provides information about the process for electing the 
Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Secretary/Treasurer for the 2016 calendar year.  
This item does not require Board action; rather it serves as a reminder about the 
process the Consortium has used in the past and will use for the election of 
officers for 2016. 
 
The election will be held at the first meeting in 2016, scheduled for February 4, 
2016 in Tallahassee.  The following is a summary of the election process 
adopted by the Board for the election: 
 

• A Director may nominate him or herself for one or more of the offices 
sought. 

• The Director must notify the Interim Manager by December 15, 2015 
of the intent to run for office. 

• The Director must secure written approval of the Director’s candidacy by 
the respective Board of County Commissioners.  The Board’s approval 
must be provided to the Manager prior to the election.  

• The re-election of an incumbent officer is allowed. 
• Election is by written ballot, with a majority vote required of the Directors 

present and voting to determine the election outcome. 
• Newly elected officers shall take office immediately and serve until the 

election of new officers for 2017. 
 
After the election of the officers, the three elected officers select two additional 
Directors to serve as “at large,” voting members of the Executive Committee. The 
Chairman typically calls a special conference call meeting of the three elected 
officers to select the two at large members of the Executive Committee. 
 
 
Background: 
 
The Interlocal Agreement establishes the following elected officers:  Chairman, 
Vice-Chairman and Secretary/Treasurer.  These officers must be Directors and 
shall each serve a one year term, unless reelected.  The duties of the Chairman 
include signing documents, calling meetings of the Board and taking such other 
actions and having such other powers as provided by the Board.  See, Sec. 3.04, 
3.05, 3.07.  The Vice-Chairman is authorized to act in the absence or otherwise 



2 
 

inability of the Chairman to act.  Sec. 3.05.  The Secretary/Treasurer is 
responsible for the minutes of the meetings and shall have other powers 
approved by the Board.  Sec. 3.05. 
 
The Interlocal Agreement also provides that the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and 
Secretary/Treasurer shall select two other Directors who, together with the 
elected officers, shall constitute an Executive Committee.   
 
Pursuant to the procedure adopted by the Board in November 2012 (copy 
attached), the Board is required to annually elect three officers from among the 
Directors at the first meeting of the year. 
 
Analysis: 
This agenda item does not require Board action.  It provides information to the 
Directors and the public of the election process and that qualification for election 
to the three elected positions remains open until December 15, 2015, the closing 
date as established by the Interim Manager pursuant to the election procedure. 
 
Options: 
This agenda item is informational only.  No action by the Board is required. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   
None. 
 
Recommendation: 
No Board action is required. 
 
Attachments: 
Policy adopted by Board of Directors, November 2012 
 
Prepared by:  
Sarah M. Bleakley 
Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 
General Counsel 
On:  November 5, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

Gulf Consortium Process for Election of the 
Chairman, Vice Chairman and Secretary-Treasurer  

Adopted by the Board of Directors in November 2012.    
 
Commencing with the elections in 2013 and applicable annually thereafter, the 
following election process is approved:   
 

• Date of Election.  Election of officers shall be held annually at the Board’s 
first meeting of the calendar year (the “Election Meeting”).   

 
• Term of Office.  An officer shall take office immediately upon election.  

The term of office shall end upon the election of the officer at the following 
year’s Election Meeting of the Board 

  
• Self Nomination and Notification; Timelines.-- Any Director  wishing to 

run for an elected office shall formally declare his/her candidacy by the 
Qualifying Date which is either December 15 of the year before the term 
begins, or such other date, as set by the Manager, that is not less than 20 
days prior to the Election Meeting.   The Manager shall provide notice to 
each Director of the Qualifying Date at least 45 days before the Election 
Meeting.  The Director’s declaration of candidacy must be in writing, 
stating the office or offices sought, and be received by the Manager on or 
before the Qualifying Date.  The Director shall  send the declaration of 
candidacy to the Manager by either (a) express delivery, return receipt 
requested, or (b) via electronic mail (email).  The Manager shall 
acknowledge receipt of  emails declaring candidacy within 24 hours of 
receipt.  However, it shall be the responsibility of the Director declaring his 
or her candidacy to assure that the email has been received by the 
Manager on or before the qualifying date.   
 

• Board of County Commissioners Approval.-- On or before the Election 
Meeting,  a Director who is a candidate for office shall cause to be 
delivered a letter or resolution to the Manager from that Director’s board of 
county commissioners stating its support for that Director’s candidacy for 
an officer of the Gulf Consortium.   
 

• Order of Election and Written Ballot.-- At the Election Meeting of the 
Board of Directors, the Manager shall conduct the election of the offices 
for the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Secretary-Treasurer in that order.  
Qualified candidates shall be given an opportunity to address the Directors 
for three minutes each.  After the candidates’ presentation for the 
respective office, the Interim Manager shall issue a written ballot for  each 
Director to vote his or her preference for that office.   
 



4 
 

• Majority Vote Requirements.-- A majority vote of the Directors present 
shall be required for the election of the officer.  Voting shall continue until 
a majority vote of the Directors present is achieved for a candidate for the 
office.  In case of a tie, the Interim Manager shall call for another vote for 
those tied until the office is filled by a majority vote of the Directors 
present.   

 
 



1 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 7 

Comments on Proposed BP Consent Decree 
 
 
 

Executive Summary:  
This agenda item recommends the Gulf Consortium provide comments on the 
proposed BP Consent Decree urging the decree be modified to include 
authorization for the Spill Impact Component payments to be accelerated through 
the issuance of debt by the Consortium with a pledge of  the BP payments over 
the 15 year payout schedule in the Consent Decree.  Draft correspondence to 
the Department of Justice is attached for the Executive Committee’s 
consideration.  The acceleration of the funds will reduce administrative costs for 
grant administration and management, and allow the option for significant, 
signature projects to receive funding and provide a simpler mechanism for 
allocating funds among projects up front instead of requiring a lengthy project 
schedule requiring priorities be set by the Consortium.   
 
Background: 
In October 5, 2015 the U.S. Department of Justice submitted for public comment 
the proposed Consent Decree Among Defendant BP Exploration & Production, 
The United States of America, and the States of Alabama, Florida, Louisiana, 
Mississippi, and Texas which among other claims settles all Clean Water Act civil 
penalties on BP.  Eighty percent of the civil penalties provides funding for all the 
RESTORE Act components, including 30 percent for the Spill Impact 
Component, which is the source of funds for the State Expenditure Plan the 
Consortium is developing.  For Florida’s share of the Spill Impact Component, 
the Consent Decree results in an estimated total of $242,352,000 paid out over a 
period of 15 years beginning a year after the settlement is finalized.  The shares 
are equal in 14 of the 15 year payout period, with the second year’s payment 
being less.   
 
The Consent Decree does not expressly authorize the Consortium to borrow 
against or otherwise accelerate the BP payments.    
 
Analysis: 
As set forth in the attached draft correspondence to the Department of Justice,  
there are fiscal and administrative advantages to the Consortium to receiving a 
single upfront payment of funds instead of 15 separate payments over 15 years, 
as currently proposed in the Consent Decree.  Comments are due to the 
Department of Justice on or before December 4, 2015.   
 
 



2 
 

Options: 
(1) Adopt a motion recommending the Board of Directors provide comments on 

the proposed BP settlement urging a modification that would allow 
acceleration of the payment schedule to the Consortium, as outlined in the 
attached draft correspondence.   

(2) Provide other direction. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   
There will be administrative costs savings associated with a shorter payout of BP 
funds to the Consortium from reduced grant administration and the general 
management and oversight cost of the Consortium and the granting agency in 
Florida, whether it is the Consortium or a department of state government.   
 
There will be additional costs associated with accelerating the payout for 
borrowing money and paying principal and interest on the debt.   
 
The fiscal impact of those costs and savings cannot be estimated.   
 
 
Recommendation: 
This is a policy decision for the Board.  Commenting on the Consent Decree may 
result in preserving the option for accelerating the BP payments but will not 
obligate the Consortium to issue debt for that purpose.  Consequently, we 
recommend adoption of a motion to comment on the Consent Decree to 
recommend modification allowing the acceleration of the payments.    
 
Prepared by:  
Sarah M. Bleakley 
Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 
General Counsel 
On:  November 6, 2015 



Draft No. 1 

 
Via Email 

http://www.justice.gov/enrd/deepwater-horizon 
 
 
November 6, 2015 
 
 
U.S. Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 7611 
Washington, D.C. 20044-7611 
 
Re:   Gulf Consortium Comments on Consent Decree in U.S. v. BP Exploration and Production, 

et al, Civil No. 10-4536 (E.D. La.) (centralized in MDL 2179: In Re: Oil Spill by the Oil Rig 
"Deepwater Horizon" in the Gulf of Mexico, on April 20, 2010.)  

Dear Sir or Madam: 

This correspondence is intended to provide comments from the Gulf Consortium of Florida on 
the Consent Decree urging a modification to expressly allow for the pledging of RESTORE Act 
funds, turning a small, but expensive grant program into an efficient,  high impact course that 
could vastly improve the Gulf region’s economy and environment as the Act envisions. 

The Gulf Consortium is the entity designated by the RESTORE Act to develop Florida’s State 
Expenditure Plan.  The Consortium consists of 23 member counties all of which are along 
Florida’s Gulf Coast from Monroe County in the Florida Keys to Escambia County in Florida’s 
western panhandle.  The Governor of Florida has appointed six ex officio members to the Board 
of Directors pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding between the Consortium and 
Governor Rick Scott, who is responsible for submission of Florida’s SEP to the Council. 

The RESTORE Act’s designation of the Gulf Consortium to develop the State of Florida’s State 
Expenditure Plan is unique to Florida, as the Act requires a Gulf Coast State in every other 
instance to develop the respective State’s plans.  This unique designation puts the Consortium 
in a position of not having the financial backing of a State government’s budget or resources.  
Instead, the Gulf Consortium is a special district created by the 23 county governments and is 
without taxing power.  From its inception to date, the Consortium is funded entirely with 
contributions from the member counties which is approximately $150,000 annually and in-kind 

http://www.justice.gov/enrd/deepwater-horizon


November 6, 2015  Draft No. 1 
Page 2 

contributions from the Florida Association of Counties, a not for profit corporation organized to 
provide services to all 67 Florida counties. 

The Consent Decree provides a 15 year payout of $5.5 billion in Clean Water Act (CWA) civil 
penalties, 80 percent of which is earmarked by RESTORE Act for the Gulf Coast Restoration 
Trust Fund.  The Consent Decree’s CWA payment schedule provides for a uniform annual 
payment over a 15 year period, except for the second year in which a lesser amount is 
provided. See Section IV.   Of the RESTORE Act funds, 30 percent is dedicated to the Spill Impact 
Component which is divided among the five Gulf Coast States pursuant to the RESTORE Act 
formula that the Gulf Coast Restoration Council used in determining each State’s share by 
Council Rule.  Under the Rule, Florida’s share is 18.36 percent of the Spill Impact Component. 

Based on the Consent Decree CWA payment schedule and the Council Rule’s 18.36 percent 
allocation to Florida, we have estimated Florida’s share of the Spill Impact Component 15 year 
payment schedule as follows: 

Year CWA Payment 
Trust Fund 

Deposit 
Florida Pot 3 

Share 
2017 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2018 $189,655,172  $151,724,138  $8,356,965  
2019 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2020 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2021 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2022 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2023 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2024 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2025 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2026 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2027 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2028 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2029 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2030 $379,310,345  $303,448,276  $16,713,931  
2031 $379,310,343  $303,448,274  $16,713,931  

 
$5,500,000,000  $4,400,000,000  $242,352,000  

 

This payment schedule provides a uniform amount of $16.7 million annually for the 
Consortium, except for the second year.  In contrast, if the Consortium could pledge the annual 
amount to the retirement of debt, the Consortium could receive a lump sum amount to be 
retired over the same 15 year time period, the amount of which depends on interest rates and 
the cost of issuance.   

Accelerating the annual BP payments into a single lump sum amount provides great advantages 
for restoring the Gulf environment and economy.  A grant program that stretches out over a 15 
year payout is much more expensive and less efficient than a short term grant program 



November 6, 2015  Draft No. 1 
Page 3 

associated with a lump sum amount.  Similarly, a 15 year project list demands significantly more 
costs to develop and administer than a single up front amount.  If the projects can be 
accelerated, the duration and amount of these administrative costs could be reduced, making 
more funds available for projects rather than spent on administration.   

The 15 year payout trickles the money into projects, instead of providing resources for 
signature, significant projects that can make a big restoration difference.  Further, the lump 
sum option provides more certainty, and allows Florida more opportunities to leverage other 
funds that are or may be dedicated to the restoration of the Gulf in Florida.  

If the Consortium can finalize its RESTORE projects more quickly than 15 years, the settlement 
process should allow for that.  Again, this would reduce administrative costs resulting in more 
beneficial use of the funds.  In many cases it is likely that earlier implementation of 
environmental and economic restoration projects will accelerate and compound the benefits 
over time.   

A program dedicating funds to provide lump sum payments up front is not an unusual approach 
to addressing capital projects in federal programs.   The Consortium needs flexibility to be able 
to implement projects according to Florida priorities and scheduling considerations.  The 
Consortium could utilize alternatives to allow for that flexibility which may include a mechanism 
to borrow against future settlement funds that will be received by Florida.  Several alternatives 
could serve as a model for this flexibility in federal grant context such as: 

• Grant Anticipation Revenue Vehicle (“GARVEE”)-like bonds; 

• Grant Anticipation Notes (“GANs”); and  

• Other “conduit” sources of financing or pooled programs. 

To implement these types of tools, the Consent Decree should be modified to specify how 
interest on financing can be treated in any of these repayment mechanisms, as well address 
any federal income tax treatment on interest earned on such debt.  The Gulf Consortium 
respectfully requests that the Consent Decree be modified to provide specific legal authority to 
authorize the expenditure of settlement funds for debt services under these types of 
mechanisms.   

Respectfully, 

 

Grover C. Robinson, IV  
Chairman 
 

 



1 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 8 

Approval of Warren Averett Contract for Independent Financial Audit for 
Fiscal Year Ending September 30, 2015 

 
 

Executive Summary: 
This agenda memorandum seeks Executive Committee approval of the attached 
contract with Warren Averett to perform the Independent Financial Audit for the 
fiscal year ending September 30, 2015.  
 
Background: 
State law requires entities such as the Gulf Consortium to submit an annual audit 
to the Chief Financial Officer. Regarding hiring an auditor, Section 218.319, 
Florida Statutes, requires a specific audit selection procedure be followed, 
including the establishment of an audit committee to develop evaluation factors, 
to provide for the public announcement of the request for proposals, and to 
evaluate and rank the proposals for the governing body’s consideration.  
 
The Consortium’s audit for FY 2013/2014 was conducted by Warren Averett. It 
was competitively procured by the Consortium and a contract was entered into 
on December 1, 2014.   
 
Analysis:  
Resolution 2014-02 established a procurement policy for the competitive 
selection of an independent financial auditor to prepare the Consortium’s audit 
for the 2013-14 fiscal year. Under Resolution 2014-02, renewals of the financial 
auditor may be approved by the Executive Committee. Renewals of the contract 
may be approved by the Executive Committee as well.  
 
The Executive Committee, at its meeting of August 20, 2015, voted to renew the 
contract with Warren Averett to conduct the independent audit for FY 2014/2015.  
 
Options:  
(1) Approval of the Independent Auditor with Warren Averett to conduct the 

Consortium independent audit for FY2014/2015; or  
(2) Provide other direction.  
 
Fiscal Impact:  
The Consortium paid $3,000 for the FY2013/2014 audit. The same contract 
amount is the proposed expenditure in the 2015/16 budget. 
 
Attachment: 
Contract with Warren Averett for the FY2014/15 independent audit. 



2 
 

Recommendation:   
Approve Warren Averett Contract as presented. 
 
Prepared by:  
Ginger Delegal  
Florida Association of Counties 
Interim Manager 
On:  November 5, 2015 
 
Action Taken: 
 
Motion to: ____________________, Made by: ________________________; 
 
Seconded by:  _____________________. 
 
Approved____; Approved as amended_______; Defeated_________. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

September 30, 2015 
 
 
The Gulf Consortium 
100 South Monroe Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
 
I want to thank you and The Gulf Consortium for your continued relationship with Warren 
Averett, LLC (the Firm). I appreciate this opportunity to further work with you and look forward to 
serving you in this capacity.  
 
In an ongoing effort to provide exceptional service to our clients, we focus on preventing any 
misunderstandings regarding professional services and client expectations. Enclosed is our 
Terms of Engagement which outlines the services you have engaged our Firm to provide. This 
standard Firm document must be signed by all clients prior to the initiation of work to help both 
the Firm and the client have a clear understanding of the services to be provided and the terms 
and objectives of the engagement. The document provides for proper client communication and 
complies with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Ethics Interpretations 
addressing documentation of accountants’ engagements to perform services.  
 
Although the Terms of Engagement may appear formal, it is intended to support the 
professional and personal relationship we have with your organization. You can be assured that 
the Firm and I will always keep your best interests in mind. If you have concerns or questions 
regarding this document you would like to discuss, please contact me in our office at (850) 244-
5121. Otherwise, please sign and return the original to me and retain a copy for your files.  
 
I sincerely appreciate the opportunity to progress our professional relationship and look forward 
to many years of serving The Gulf Consortium. 
 
Best regards, 
 

 
 
Angela D. Balent, CPA 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

T E R M S  O F  E N G A G E M E N T  
SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 

 
1. ENGAGEMENT:  Warren Averett, LLC is pleased to confirm our understanding of the 
services we are to provide for the Gulf Consortium (the “Client”) and any of its affiliated entities.  
This agreement confirms our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and 
the nature and limitations of the services we will provide.  
2. SERVICES PROVIDED:  We will audit the financial statements of the business-type 
activities which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the Gulf Consortium as of 
and for the year ended September 30, 2015. Accounting standards generally accepted in the 
United States provide for certain required supplementary information (RSI), such as 
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), to supplement Gulf Consortium’s basic financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. As part of our engagement, we will apply certain limited 
procedures to Gulf Consortium’s RSI in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. These limited procedures will consist of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We will not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. The 
following RSI is required by generally accepted accounting principles and will be subjected to 
certain limited procedures, but will not be audited: 
 

1. Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 
 

3. AUDIT OBJECTIVES:  The objective of our audit is the expression of opinions as to 
whether your financial statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit will be conducted in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards for 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States, and will include tests of the accounting records of the Gulf Consortium and 
other procedures we consider necessary to enable us to express such opinions. We will issue a 
written report upon completion of our audit of the Gulf Consortium’s financial statements. Our 
report will be addressed to the members of the Gulf Consortium.  We cannot provide assurance 
that unmodified opinions will be expressed. Circumstances may arise in which it is necessary for 
us to modify our opinions or add emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraphs. If our opinions 
on the financial statements are other than unmodified, we will discuss the reasons with you in 
advance. If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form or have not 
formed opinions, we may decline to express opinions or issue reports, or may withdraw from this 
engagement. 

We will also provide a report (that does not include an opinion) on internal control related 
to the financial statements and compliance with the provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a material effect on the financial 
statements as required by Government Auditing Standards. The report on internal control and on 
compliance and other matters will include a paragraph that states (1) that the purpose of the 
report is solely to describe the scope of testing of internal control and compliance, and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control on 
compliance, and (2) that the report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. The 



The Gulf Consortium 
September 30, 2015 
Page 2 of 6 
 

Terms of Engagement is a standard firm document signed by the firm and all clients of the firm that ensures both the firm 
and the client have a clear understanding of the services to be provided and the terms and objectives of the engagement. 

paragraph will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. If during our audit 
we become aware that the Gulf Consortium is subject to an audit requirement that is not 
encompassed in the terms of this engagement, we will communicate to management and those 
charged with governance that an audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing 
standards and the standards for financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
may not satisfy the relevant legal, regulatory, or contractual requirements. 
4. MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES: Management is responsible for the basic 
financial statements and all accompanying information as well as all representations contained 
therein. As part of the audit, we will assist with preparation of your financial statements and 
related notes. You are responsible for making all management decisions and performing all 
management functions relating to the financial statements and related notes and for accepting full 
responsibility for such decisions. You will be required to acknowledge in the management 
representation letter our assistance with preparation of the financial statements and that you have 
reviewed and approved the financial statements and related notes prior to their issuance and 
have accepted responsibility for them. Further, you are required to designate an individual with 
suitable skill, knowledge, or experience to oversee any nonaudit services we provide and for 
evaluating the adequacy and results of those services and accepting responsibility for them. 
 Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal controls, 
including monitoring ongoing activities, to help ensure that appropriate goals and objectives are 
met; for the selection and application of accounting principles; and for the fair presentation in the 
financial statements of the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Gulf Consortium and the respective changes 
in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. 
 Management is also responsible for making all financial records and related information 
available to us and for ensuring that management and financial information is reliable and 
properly recorded. Your responsibilities include adjusting the financial statements to correct 
material misstatements and for confirming to us in the representation letter that the effects of any 
uncorrected misstatements aggregated by us during the current engagement and pertaining to 
the latest period presented are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
 You are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to 
prevent and detect fraud, and for informing us about all known or suspected fraud affecting the 
government involving (1) management, (2) employees who have significant roles in internal 
control, and (3) others where the fraud or illegal acts could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. Your responsibilities include informing us of your knowledge of any allegations of 
fraud or suspected fraud affecting the government received in communications from employees, 
former employees, grantors, regulators, or others. In addition, you are responsible for identifying 
and ensuring that the entity complies with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, agreements, 
and grants for taking timely and appropriate steps to remedy any fraud, illegal acts, violations of 
contracts or grant agreements, or abuse that we may report.  
 Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a process for tracking the 
status of audit findings and recommendations. Management is also responsible for identifying for 
us previous financial audits, attestation engagements, performance audits or other studies related 
to the objectives discussed in the Audit Objectives section of this letter. This responsibility 
includes relaying to us corrective actions taken to address significant findings and 
recommendations resulting from those audits, attestation engagements, performance audits, or 
other studies. You are also responsible for providing management’s views on our current findings, 
conclusions, and recommendations, as well as your planned corrective actions, for the report, 
and for the timing and format for providing that information. 
5. AUDIT PROCEDURES – GENERAL: An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; therefore, our audit 
will involve judgment about the number of transactions to be examined and the areas to be 
tested. We will plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable rather than absolute assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether from (1) errors, 
(2) fraudulent financial reporting, (3) misappropriation of assets, or (4) violations of law or 



The Gulf Consortium 
September 30, 2015 
Page 3 of 6 
 

Terms of Engagement is a standard firm document signed by the firm and all clients of the firm that ensures both the firm 
and the client have a clear understanding of the services to be provided and the terms and objectives of the engagement. 

governmental regulations that are attributable to the entity or to acts by management or 
employees acting on behalf of the entity. Because the determination of abuse is subjective, 
Government Auditing Standards do not expect auditors to provide reasonable assurance of 
detecting abuse. 
 Because an audit is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance and 
because we will not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is a risk that material 
misstatements may exist and not be detected by us.  In addition, an audit is not designed to 
detect immaterial misstatements or violations of laws or governmental regulations that do not 
have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, we will inform you of any 
material errors and any fraudulent financial reporting or misappropriation of assets that come to 
our attention. We will also inform you of any violations of laws or governmental regulations that 
come to our attention, unless clearly inconsequential. Our responsibility as auditors is limited to 
the period covered by our audit and does not extend to later periods for which we are not 
engaged as auditors. 

Our procedures will include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions 
recorded in the accounts, and may include tests of the physical existence of inventories, and 
direct confirmation of receivables and certain other assets and liabilities by correspondence with 
selected individuals, funding sources, creditors, and financial institutions. We will request written 
representations from your attorneys as part of the engagement, and they may bill you for 
responding to this inquiry. At the conclusion of our audit, we will require certain written 
representations from you about the financial statements and related matters. 
6. AUDIT PROCEDURES – INTERNAL CONTROL: Our audit will include obtaining an 
understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal control, sufficient to assess the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and to design the nature, timing, and 
extent of further audit procedures. Tests of controls may be performed to test the effectiveness of 
certain controls that we consider relevant to preventing and detecting errors and fraud that are 
material to the financial statements and to preventing and detecting misstatements resulting from 
illegal acts and other noncompliance matters that have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. Our tests, if performed, will be less in scope than would be necessary to 
render an opinion on internal control and, accordingly, no opinion will be expressed in our report 
on internal control issued pursuant to Government Auditing Standards. 
 An audit is not designed to provide assurance on internal control or to identify significant 
deficiencies. However, during the audit, we will communicate to management and those charged 
with governance internal control related matters that are required to be communicated under 
AICPA professional standards and Government Auditing Standards. 
7. AUDIT PROCEDURES – COMPLIANCE: As part of obtaining reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, we will perform tests of 
Gulf Consortium’s compliance with the provisions of applicable laws, regulations, contracts, 
agreements, and grants. However, the objective of our audit will not be to provide an opinion on 
overall compliance and we will not express such an opinion in our report on compliance issued 
pursuant to Government Auditing Standards.  
8. ENGAGEMENT ADMINISTRATION AND OTHER: We may from time to time, and 
depending on the circumstances, use third-party service providers in serving your account. We 
may share confidential information about you with these service providers, but remain committed 
to maintaining the confidentiality and security of your information. Accordingly, we maintain 
internal policies, procedures, and safeguards to protect the confidentiality of your personal 
information. In addition, we will secure confidentiality agreements with all service providers to 
maintain the confidentiality of your information and we will take reasonable precautions to 
determine that they have appropriate procedures in place to prevent the unauthorized release of 
your confidential information to others. In the event that we are unable to secure an appropriate 
confidentiality agreement, you will be asked to provide your consent prior to the sharing of your 
confidential information with the third-party service provider. Furthermore, we will remain 
responsible for the work provided by any such third-party service providers. 
 We understand that your employees will prepare all cash or other confirmations we 
request and will locate any documents selected by us for testing. 
 We will provide copies of our reports to the governing body of the Gulf Consortium; 
however, management is responsible for distribution of the reports and the financial statements. 



The Gulf Consortium 
September 30, 2015 
Page 4 of 6 
 

Terms of Engagement is a standard firm document signed by the firm and all clients of the firm that ensures both the firm 
and the client have a clear understanding of the services to be provided and the terms and objectives of the engagement. 

Unless restricted by law or regulation, or containing privileged and confidential information, copies 
of our reports are to be made available for public inspection. 
 The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of Warren Averett, LLC and 
constitutes confidential information. However, pursuant to authority given by law or regulation, we 
may be requested to make certain audit documentation available to the Florida Auditor General or 
its designee, a federal agency providing direct or indirect funding, or the U.S. Government 
Accountability Office for purposes of a quality review of the audit, to resolve audit findings, or to 
carry out oversight responsibilities. We will notify you of any such request. If requested, access to 
such audit documentation will be provided under the supervision of Warren Averett, LLC 
personnel. Furthermore, upon request, we may provide copies of selected audit documentation to 
the aforementioned parties. These parties may intend, or decide, to distribute the copies or 
information contained therein to others, including other governmental agencies. 
 The audit documentation for this engagement will be retained for a minimum of five years 
after the report release date or for any additional period requested by the Florida Auditor General. 
If we are aware that a federal awarding agency or auditee is contesting an audit finding, we will 
contact the party(ies) contesting the audit finding for guidance prior to destroying the audit 
documentation. 
 We expect to begin our audit in December 2015 and to issue our reports no later than 
March 31, 2016. Angela D. Balent, CPA is the engagement partner and is responsible for 
supervising the engagement and signing the reports or authorizing another individual to sign 
them.  

Government Auditing Standards require that we provide you with a copy of our most 
recent external peer review report and any letter of comment, and any subsequent peer review 
reports and letters of comment received during the period of the contract. Our 2013 peer review 
report accompanies this letter.  There were no letters of comment. 
9. DETECTION:  This engagement will not include any procedures designed to detect theft 
or illegal acts that are immaterial to the financial statements, and the Client agrees that we will 
have no responsibility to do so. 
10 FEES:  Our fees for these services will be $3,000. Other requested services will generally 
be billed at agreed upon rates as provided in our response to the Request for Proposal. 
11. BILLING:  Invoices are due upon receipt.  In the event that payment is not received 
within 45 days of the due date, the Client will be assessed interest charges of one percent per 
month on the unpaid balance.  We reserve the right to suspend or terminate our work due to 
nonpayment.  In the event that our work is suspended or terminated as a result of nonpayment, 
the Client agrees that we will not be responsible for the Client’s failure to meet government and 
other filing deadlines, or for penalties or interest that may be assessed against the Client resulting 
from the Client’s failure to meet such deadlines. 
12. LEGAL FEES:  In addition to the fees for services described in this agreement, the Client 
agrees to pay legal fees incurred in connection with any suit to recover fees due from you on this 
engagement, legal fees incurred by Warren Averett, LLC in responding to any third-party request 
for production and/or subpoenas related to your records and our work done for you in connection 
with an engagement thereon. 
13. LIABILITY:  Warren Averett, LLC’s maximum liability to the Client for any reason shall be 
limited to the fees paid by the Client for the services or work product giving rise to the liability 
except and to the extent finally determined to have resulted from our willful misconduct. Without 
limiting the foregoing, Warren Averett, LLC’s liability under this agreement is limited to the actual 
and direct damages incurred by the Client arising out of or related to Warren Averett, LLC’s 
performance hereunder. In no event shall Warren Averett, LLC be liable for any incidental, 
consequential, special, indirect, punitive or third-party damages or claims, including, without 
limitation, lost profits or revenue, lost savings, lost productivity, loss of data, loss of use of 
equipment and loss from interruption of business, regardless of whether the form of action is 
based upon breach of warranty, breach of contract, negligence, strict liability in tort or any other 
legal theory even if Warren Averett, LLC has been advised about the possibility of such damages. 
14. INDEMNITY:  The Client agrees to release, defend, indemnify and hold Warren Averett, 
LLC and its members, managers, officers and employees and the respective heirs, executors, 
personal representatives, successors, and assigns of each of them harmless from any and all 



The Gulf Consortium 
September 30, 2015 
Page 5 of 6 
 

Terms of Engagement is a standard firm document signed by the firm and all clients of the firm that ensures both the firm 
and the client have a clear understanding of the services to be provided and the terms and objectives of the engagement. 

claims which arise from knowing misrepresentations to Warren Averett, LLC by the Client, or 
intentional withholding or concealment of information from Warren Averett, LLC by the Client. 
15. DISPUTE RESOLUTION:  By signing this agreement, you agree that any controversies, 
issues, disputes or claims (“Disputes”) asserted or brought by or on behalf of you shall be 
RESOLVED EXCLUSIVELY BY BINDING ARBITRATION administered by the American 
Arbitration Association (the “AAA”) in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the 
AAA then in effect; provided, that, by written notice delivered to you prior to or after the initiation 
of any arbitration claim, Warren Averett, LLC as the defendant in a Dispute may elect (a) that the 
Dispute shall be resolved pursuant to litigation in an Agreed Court (as defined below) and/or 
(b)submitted to nonbinding mediation prior to the commencement or continuation of an arbitration 
claim or lawsuit. If any Dispute is not arbitrated for any reason, (i) any litigation, proceedings or 
other legal actions related to a Dispute shall be instituted in the courts in the state of Florida or 
Northern District of Florida (the “Agreed Courts”) and (ii) the parties, for themselves and their 
successors and assigns, hereby WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY DISPUTE. Each party to this 
Agreement irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Agreed Courts in connection 
with any such litigation, action or proceeding. Each party to this Agreement irrevocably waives, to 
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any defense or objection it may now or hereafter 
have to the laying of venue of any proceeding brought in Agreed Courts, and any claim that any 
proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. If you recover 
less than that which may be offered by Warren Averett, LLC or its representatives prior to, or 
during the course of, any such arbitration, litigation, mediation or other settlement negotiation, 
then you agree to reimburse Warren Averett, LLC for any legal fees or costs incurred in the 
defense by Warren Averett, LLC relating to the resolution of the Dispute, discontinuance, and/or 
abandonment of the Dispute presented by you within 90 days subsequent to the issuance of any 
arbitration award or final judgment, the effective date of any mediation/settlement agreement, or 
the date of abandonment of the Dispute by you as perceived by Warren Averett, LLC. The parties 
acknowledge that (x) they have read and understood the provisions of this agreement regarding 
arbitration and (y) performance of this agreement will be in interstate commerce as that term is 
used in the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq., and the parties contemplate substantial 
interstate activity in the performance of this Agreement including, without limitation, interstate 
travel, the use of interstate phone lines, the use of the U.S. mail services and other interstate 
courier services. 
16. INVALIDATION:  In the event that any portion of this agreement is deemed invalid or 
unenforceable, said finding shall not operate to invalidate the remainder of this agreement. 
17. DISCLOSURE:  From time to time, we may disclose your information to a service bureau 
that assists us in providing data processing services.  We have secured agreements with these 
service bureaus to maintain the confidentiality of your information.  Warren Averett, LLC will 
remain responsible for the work provided by any of these service bureaus. 
18. TERM:  This agreement shall survive the termination of the Client’s engagement of 
Warren Averett, LLC. 
  



The Gulf Consortium 
September 30, 2015 
Page 6 of 6 
 

Terms of Engagement is a standard firm document signed by the firm and all clients of the firm that ensures both the firm 
and the client have a clear understanding of the services to be provided and the terms and objectives of the engagement. 

19. AMENDMENT:  The terms and conditions of this agreement (i) apply exclusively to the 
services specifically set forth in the “Services Provided” section herein (the “Current Specified 
Services”) and do not apply to any other services specifically addressed in a separate Terms of 
Engagement entered into between Warren Averett, LLC and the Client.  This agreement replaces 
and amends all previous Terms of Engagement entered into between Warren Averett, LLC and 
the Client for the services specifically set forth in the “Services Provided” section herein (the 
“Current Specified Services”).  This agreement does not impose upon Warren Averett, LLC any 
additional obligations or responsibilities with respect to any other Terms of Engagement entered 
into between Warren Averett, LLC and the Client. 
 
 
WARREN AVERETT, LLC 

 

_________________________,CPA__________________________ 

_______________________________________________________ 
Date 
 
CLIENT SIGNATURE:  If the foregoing is in accordance with the Client’s understanding, please 
sign the copy of this letter in the space provided and return it to us. 
 
GULF CONSORTIUM   
     
By:     
     
     
Date:     
     
     
SECRETARY/TREASURER:    
     
     
By:     
     
     
Date:     
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
Gulf Consortium Attorney 

   
   

     
By:     
 Sarah M. Bleakley 

Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 
   

 Interim General Counsel to 
the Gulf Consortium 

   

     
 

September 30, 2015 



System Review Report 
 
 

December 6, 2013 
 
 
 
To The Partners 
Warren Averett, LLC 
And the National Peer Review Committee  
 
We have reviewed the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of Warren 
Averett, LLC (the firm) applicable to non-SEC issuers in effect for the year ended July 31, 2013.  Our 
peer review was conducted in accordance with the Standards for Performing and Reporting on Peer 
Reviews established by the Peer Review Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  
As part of our peer review, we considered reviews by regulatory entities, if applicable, in determining the 
nature and extent of our procedures.  The firm is responsible for designing a system of quality control and 
complying with it to provide the firm with reasonable assurance of performing and reporting in 
conformity with applicable professional standards in all material respects.  Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the design of the system of quality control and the firm’s compliance therewith based on 
our review.  The nature, objectives, scope, limitations of, and the procedures performed in a System 
review are described in the standards at www.aicpa.org/prsummary. 
 
As required by the standards, engagements selected for review included engagements performed under 
Government Auditing Standards, audits of employee benefit plans, audit performed under FDICIA, and 
examinations of service organizations (Service Organizations Control 1 engagements).  
 
In our opinion, the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of Warren Averett, 
LLC applicable to non-SEC issuers in effect for the year ended July 31, 2013, has been suitably designed 
and complied with to provide the firm with reasonable assurance of performing and reporting in 
conformity with applicable professional standards in all material respects.  Firms can receive a rating of 
pass, pass with deficiency or fail. Warren Averett, LLC has received a peer review rating of pass. 
 

 
 
 

 

1200 MARKET STREET  |  CHATTANOOGA, TN 37402  |  T 423.756.7771  |  F 423.265.8125  |  WWW.HHMCPAS.COM



1 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 9 

Discussion of Options for Recording Gulf Consortium  
November 18, 2015 Board Meeting 

 
 

 
Executive Summary:  
This agenda item seeks direction from the Executive Committee on providing 
conference call access to, and recording meetings of the Gulf Consortium.  
 
Background: 
The Gulf Consortium staff has updated the cost information for conference call 
capability and the recording of future Board meetings.  At the Gulf Consortium 
Board meeting of January 21, 2015, staff provided information on the costs for 
physical and conference call meetings as well as recording physical meetings of 
the Consortium.  After the Board was provided with the cost and technical 
information, no action was taken.  Recently, the questions on cost estimates for 
these services have been raised.  
 
Analysis: 
In researching the costs of these services, staff investigated options that would 
ensure that the Gulf Consortium could meet the Open Meetings and Public 
Records legal requirements.  The following information provides actual cost 
information on recent meetings as well as cost estimate information on additional 
services:   
 
June 19, 2015 - Gulf Consortium Board Meeting 
 
AV Costs Incurred (Actual):    $2,200.00 
 
 AV Costs Estimated with Teleconference &  
 Recorded (estimate based on amount provided 
 for by Sawgrass Marriott)     $4,448.93 
 
Increased Cost Differential of:      $2,248.93 
  
 



2 
 

August 26, 2015 - Gulf Consortium Board Meeting/Workshop 
 
AV Costs Incurred Actual:     $2,579.56 
 
 AV Costs Estimated with Teleconference &  
 Recording (estimate based on amount provided 
  by Hilton St. Petersburg)     $3760.41 
 
Increased Cost Differential of:      $1,180.85 
  
 
November 18, 2015 - Gulf Consortium Board Meeting 

 
AV Costs Estimated:     $1,286.21 
 
 AV Costs Estimated with Teleconference & 
 Recording (estimate based on amount provided by Omni) $1,793.71 
 
Increased Cost Differential of:      $   507.50 
  
 
Conference Calls 
 
When the Executive Committee meets via conference calls, the Consortium 
uses, through FAC, the State of Florida’s Suncom Teleconferencing system.  The 
typical expense for these calls has been $50.  Costs vary, depending on the 
number of open lines. 
 
County Location:  Conference Call/Recording Meeting Costs 
 
Should a county offer to host Consortium meetings and provide recording and 
conference call capabilities at no charge to the Consortium, meetings would have 
to be held at the county location, not coordinated with existing FAC meetings.  
Some counties along the Gulf Coast may have all the room, AV, and recording 
capability required.  

 
      Costs, if equipment/services are 
      donated: Minimal 
 
Web Streaming:  
 
FAC has worked with a video company in the past that could video, record and 
live stream meetings.  First year costs (up to 6 meetings) would be $6,000 plus 
travel expenses 
  
       
      Estimate: $6,000 plus expenses  



3 
 

 
 
If the Gulf Consortium would now like to have conference call and recording 
capability available for each meeting, the 2015/2016 budget provides some funds 
to accomplish that direction. The adopted 2015/2016 budget includes an 
expenditure item of $16,050.00 to help provide funding for these AV services 
until planning grant monies are available.  The submitted planning grant 
application include additional revenues to also use on AV services for meetings. 
 
Options: 
(1) Provide direction to staff to secure conference call and recording AV services 

for all future Gulf Consortium, Executive Committee, and Committee 
meetings;  

(2) Provide direction to staff to secure conference call and recording AV services 
for the Board meeting scheduled for November 18, 2015; or   

(3) Provide other direction to staff. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   
Varies, depending on choice made and location of meeting. 
 
Attachment: 
None. 
 
Prepared by:  
Ginger Delegal  
Florida Association of Counties 
Interim Manager 
On:  November 5, 2015 
 
Action Taken: 
 
Motion to: ____________________, Made by: ________________________; 
 
Seconded by:  _____________________. 
 
Approved____; Approved as amended_______; Defeated_________. 



Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 10 

Board Meeting Presentations:  Scientists/Economists 
 
 

Executive Summary:  
This agenda item seeks direction from the Executive Committee on having 
standing presentations from scientists and economists at every Gulf Consortium 
Board meeting. 
 
Background: 
Several directors have commented on the wisdom of having relevant scientists 
and economists provide presentations at each Gulf Consortium meeting.    
 
Analysis: 
The Executive Committee should discuss this idea and provide direction to staff. 
 
Attachments: 
None. 
 
Prepared by:  
Ginger Delegal 
Florida Association of Counties 
Interim Manager 
On:  November 5, 2015 
 
Action Taken: 

Motion to: ____________________, Made by: ________________________; 

Seconded by:  _____________________. 

Approved____; Approved as amended_______; Defeated_________. 



Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 11 

Report from Committee of the 15 Counties  
 
Executive Summary: 
The Chair of the Committee of the 15 Counties will report on the Committee’s 
recent meeting.   
 
Background: 
The Interlocal Agreement creating the Gulf Consortium provides the Board with 
the power to establish committees.  See, § 4.01(A)(18), ILA.  In May 2013, the 
Committee of 15 was established, consisting of the Director (or Alternate) of each 
of the following counties: Charlotte, Citrus, Collier, Dixie, Hernando, Hillsborough, 
Jefferson, Lee, Levy, Manatee, Monroe, Pasco, Pinellas, Sarasota and Taylor.  
The Chair of the Committee of 15 is Susan Latvala (Pinellas), the Vice-Chairs of 
the Committee of 15 are Commissioner George Neugent (Monroe) and 
Commissioner Betsy Barfield (Jefferson).  
 
The Committee of 15 Counties met in Manatee County on November 9, 2015 to 
discuss the Committee’s goals and objectives under the State Expenditure Plan.  
Chair Latvala will provide additional verbal comments at the Executive Committee 
meeting. 
 
Options: 
This agenda item is informational only.  No action required. 

 
Prepared by:  
Ginger Delegal 
Florida Association of Counties 
Interim Manager 
On:  November 6, 2015 



1 
 

Gulf Consortium Executive Committee 
November 12, 2015 

 
Agenda Item 12 

Action Items Resulting from the August 26, 2015 Goal Setting Workshop 
 
 

Executive Summary:  
This agenda item provides the framework for two possible action items resulting 
from the August 26, 2015 Consortium Goal Setting Workshop: 

• Adoption of State Expenditure Plan Goals and Objectives; and 
• Adoption of no predetermined funding allocations for environmental 

versus economic projects. 
 
Background 
 
The Gulf Consortium convened its Goal Setting Workshop on August 26, 2015 
at 10:00 a.m., in St. Petersburg, immediately following its regular business 
meeting.  The three primary goals of the workshop included the following: 
 

1. Discuss and adopt a set of Florida-specific goals and objectives for the 
Florida State Expenditure Plan. 

 
2. Discuss and debate preferences and various alternatives for a 

predetermined geographic allocation of Florida State Expenditure Plan 
funding. 

 
3. Discuss and debate preferences and various alternatives for a 

predetermined project type allocation of Florida State Expenditure Plan 
funding for environmental vs. economic projects. 

 
Consensus was reached on two of the three workshop goals including: Florida-
specific goals and objectives for the State Expenditure Plan; and no 
predetermined funding allocations for environmental versus economic projects.  
These two determinations are summarized below. 
 
Florida-Specific Goals & Objectives 
 
There was broad-based support from the Gulf Consortium for adopting the 
Council’s goals and objectives verbatim.  The Consortium agreed that all of the 
Council’s goals and objectives were applicable to Florida and appropriate for the 
Florida State Expenditure.  There was discussion of deleting or modifying some 
of the Council’s goals and objectives; however, the Consortium agreed only to 
the addition of an eighth objective addressing economic revitalization, filling an 
apparent gap not addressed by the Council.  Through a straw vote there was a 
strong consensus for adopting the following goals and objectives for the Florida 
State Expenditure Plan: 



2 
 

Goals: 
1. Restore and Conserve Habitat  
2. Restore Water Quality 
3. Replenish and Protect Living Coastal and Marine Resources 
4. Restore and Revitalize the Gulf Economy 
5. Enhance Community Resilience 

 
Objectives: 

1. Restore, Enhance, and Protect Habitat 
2. Restore, Improve, and Protect Water Resources 
3. Protect and Restore Living Coastal and Marine Resources 
4. Restore and Enhance Natural Processes and Shorelines 
5. Promote Community Resilience, Including Economic Resilience 
6. Promote Natural Resource Stewardship and Environmental Education 
7. Improve Science-Based Decision-Making Processes 
8. Restore, Diversify, and Revitalize the Gulf Economy with Economic and 

Environmental Restoration Projects. 
 
Environmental vs. Economic Project Type Allocation 
 
There was broad-based support among Directors for not specifying a 
predetermined funding allocation for environmental versus economic projects, 
and for selecting projects on their merits alone.  Furthermore, there was a 
consensus expressed that the Florida economy is intimately linked to 
environmental quality, and that most environmental projects will also generate 
either direct (job growth) or indirect (increased tourism) economic benefits.  
Finally, several Directors stated that economic revitalization and development 
projects that have no quantifiable environmental benefits should not necessarily 
be excluded from the Florida State Expenditure Plan because the RESTORE 
Act allows for such projects, and because stronger economies also contribute to 
improved environmental protection and management. 
 
Geographic Allocation 
 
At the workshop there was a consensus of support for a proposed 50/50 
approach which allocates half of the Pot 3 funds to the D-8 counties, and half to 
the ND-15 counties.  However, the Consortium Executive Committee 
subsequently discussed these conclusions during their October 15, 2015 
Executive Committee meeting, and based on confusion and disagreements 
expressed regarding the straw vote on the 50/50 allocation, and whether or not it 
included county-specific funding splits using the Pot 1 formula, the Executive 
Committee decided to continue the discussion on potential geographic 
allocations. 

  



3 
 

Options: 
The Board can choose to: 1) adopt motions to approve the two consensus 
decisions reached at the workshop; 2) debate these two decisions and develop 
and adopt modified motions accordingly; or 3) take no action at this time. 
 
Fiscal Impact:   
None. 
 
Recommendation: 
Develop and adopt motions to approve consensus actions items addressing: 

• Adoption of State Expenditure Plan Goals and Objectives (Council’s 
adopted goals and objectives, as amended with the addition of the eighth 
objective; and 

• Adoption of no predetermined funding allocations for environmental 
versus economic projects. 

 
Attachments: 
Draft Goal Setting Workshop Summary Report 
 
Prepared by:  
Doug Robison 
ESA Consultant Team - Project Manager 
On:  November 6, 2015 


	11.12Agenda
	FAR Notice
	Gulf Consortium Executive Committee Sign In Sheet
	Sheet1

	Item 3_Approval of 10.15 Minutes
	Gulf Consortium Executive Committee

	Item 3_10.15.15 Minutes
	Item 4_Planning Grant Application Update
	Gulf Consortium Executive Committee

	Item 4_FINAL Planning Grant Application
	Item 5_Approval of 2016 Meeting Calendar
	Gulf Consortium Executive Committee

	Item 6_Officer elections in February 2016 agenda memo_10 26 15
	Gulf Consortium Process for Election of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and Secretary-Treasurer
	Adopted by the Board of Directors in November 2012.

	Item 7_Consent Decree in Comments 2015
	Item 7_BP Consent Decree Comments
	Item 8_Approval of Warren Averett Contract FY2014-2015
	Gulf Consortium Executive Committee

	Item 8_Warren Averett Contract
	Item 9_Discussion of Options for Recording Meetings
	Item 10_Board Meeting Presentations Scientists Economists
	Item 11_Report of Comm Mtg of 15
	Item 12_Recommend Approval GSW Action Items
	Gulf Consortium Executive Committee



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


